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PLAINTIFFS' MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THEIR


MOTION FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION
I.
INTRODUCTION

The plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and a class of Medicaid-eligible children who have behavioral, emotional, or psychiatric disabilities, filed a class action complaint on October 31, 2001 seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against the Acting Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and various executive officials responsible for providing medically necessary services to children with behavioral, emotional, and psychiatric disabilities.  Rule 23(c)(1) of the Fed. R. Civ. P. requires that as soon as practicable after the commencement of an action the court shall determine whether the action is to be maintained as a class action.  Blackie v Barrack, 524 F.2d 891, 901 (9th Cir. 1975).  This Memorandum is submitted in support of the plaintiffs' Motion for Class Certification.

II.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs Rosie D., Tyriek H., Joshua D., Sheena M., Devin E., Anton B., Nathan F., Shaun E., and Jerry N. are Medicaid-eligible children who have been screened and diagnosed with behavioral, emotional, or psychiatric disabilities, but who are not being provided with the preventive and rehabilitative treatment required by the federal Medicaid program.  42 U.S.C. ( 1396a et seq.  In particular, each child needs and has requested more appropriate mental health services and supports, but is not receiving intensive home-based mental health services, including behavioral support services, psychiatric and other clinical services, professionally acceptable assessments, crisis services, and case management (hereafter, collectively, "intensive home-based services"), in order to treat or ameliorate their impairments.  Most have been hospitalized because of the lack of intensive home-based services.  Each has been and is being harmed because s/he is not receiving medically necessary, intensive home-based services.
Complaint, ( 1.


The nine named plaintiffs are part of a class of similarly disabled and needy children who are eligible for, but have not been promptly assessed and considered for, intensive home-based services.  The class includes thousands of children who have been hospitalized or are at risk of hospitalization because of the absence of intensive home-based services.  The individual plaintiffs and those like them are either forced to leave their families and communities in order to obtain the very limited, episodic mental health services which have been made available by the defendants, or are compelled to forego these limited and unduly restrictive services altogether, leaving them with inadequate treatment and supports.  Complaint, ( 2.


As Medicaid-eligible children under the age of 21, the plaintiffs are entitled to receive Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment Services (EPSDT services), which include (necessary health care, diagnostic services, treatment, and other measures ( to correct or ameliorate defects and physical and mental illnesses and conditions discovered by the screening services (.(  42 U.S.C. ( 1396d(r)(5).  The defendants have failed to establish an adequate and effective screening and assessment process for children with behavioral, emotional, or psychiatric conditions.  The plaintiffs are eligible for and would benefit from intensive home-based mental health services.  Nevertheless, they are not receiving these Medicaid-covered services which are necessary to treat their conditions in a manner that allows them to remain with their families and in their home communities and thus avoid unnecessary and often harmful institutionalization.  Complaint, ( 3.

III.THE PROPOSED CLASS AND THE STANDARDS FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION UNDER FED. R. CIV. P. 23.

A.
The Proposed Class

The proposed class consists of all current or future Medicaid-eligible residents of Massachusetts under the age of twenty-one who are or may be eligible for, but are not receiving, intensive home-based services, including professionally acceptable assessments, special therapeutic aides, crisis intervention, and case management services.


B.
The Standards for Class Certification

In order to meet the requirements for class certification, the party moving for class certification must satisfy all of the requirements of Rule 23(a) of the Fed. R. Civ. Pro. as well as at least one of the subdivisions of Rule 23(b).  Rule 23(a) has four distinct criteria: (1) the class must be so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable; (2) the members of the class must share common questions of law or fact; (3) the claims or defenses of the named representatives must be typical of those of the class; and (4) the persons representing the class must be able to fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1)-(4); Markarian v. Connecticut Mutual Life Ins., 202 F.R.D. 60, 63 (D.Mass. 2001).  Although Rule 23(b) also has three subparts, only one must be satisfied to support class certification.  The relevant one for the purpose of this case requires that the defendants act or refuse to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, making declaratory or injunctive relief appropriate.  Yaffe v. Powers, 454 F.2d 1362, 1366 (1st Cir. 1972)((b)(2) classes "are uniquely suited to civil rights actions in which the members of the class are often 'incapable of specific enumeration'", citing Advisory Committee's Notes to Revised Rule 23).


In almost every case involving Medicaid eligible persons who challenge the State's noncompliance with either the procedural or substantive requirements of the Medicaid Act, courts have certified a class.  Alexander v. Choate, 469 U.S. 287 (1985); Herweg v. Ray, 455 U.S. 265 (1982); Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991 (1982); Jefferson v. Hackney, 406 U.S. 535 (1972).  This is particularly true with respect to children eligible for EPSDT services.  See List of Selected EPSDT Class Action Cases, attached as Exhibit 1.  Many of these cases involve similar claims and seek the same relief as set forth in the plaintiffs' Complaint.  See, e.g., Risinger v. Concannon, 201 F.R.D. 16 (D.Me. 2001); Emily Q. v. Belshe, CV-98-4181-WDK (AIJx) (C.D.Cal., Slip Op. March 30, 2001)(permanent injunction); Chisholm v. Jindal, 1998 WL 92272 (E.D.La. 1998).  In addition, in almost every case involving persons with mental disabilities who challenge the lack of appropriate services in a state or private facility, courts throughout the Nation have certified classes under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.  See Exhibit 2 (list of thirty-eight disability cases where classes of institutionalized residents have been certified).  This virtually unbroken line of decisions extending to children and adults alleging violations of their federal statutory rights under Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. (1396(a) supports class certification here, for the reasons set forth below.

IV.
THE PROPOSED CLASS MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(a).

A.
The Class Is So Numerous That Joinder of All Members Is Impractical.

Rule 23(a)(1) of the Fed. R. Civ. P. has two components: the number of classmembers and the practicability of joining them individually in the case.  For the purposes of satisfying the first component, the plaintiffs need not establish the precise number or identity of classmembers.  Carpenter v. Davis, 424 F.2d 257, 260 (5th Cir. 1970); Westcott v. Califano, 460 F.Supp. 737, 744 (D.Mass. 1978); see In re Computer Memories Securities Lit., 111 F.R.D. 675, 679 (N.D. Cal. 1986).  This is particularly true where only declaratory and injunctive relief is sought.  McCuin v. Secretary of Health and Human Services, 817 F.2d 161, 167 (1st Cir. 1987); Doe v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 529 F.2d 638, 645 (4th Cir. 1975)(size of class can be speculative where only equitable relief is requested). 


The proposed class in this case, consisting of at least 3000 members, is clearly sufficient to satisfy the numerosity requirement.
  Typically, proposed classes consisting of only a fraction of this number are certified under Rule 23(a)(1).  See Griffin v. Burns, 570 F.2d 1065, 1072-3 (1st Cir. 1978)(123 voters are sufficient to satisfy Rule 23(a)(1)); Korn v. Franchard Corp., 456 F.2d 1206, 1209 (2d Cir. 1972)(class consisting of 212 members sufficient); Grace v. Perception Technology Corp., 128 F.R.D. 165, 167 (D.Mass. 1989)(class consisting of between 300 and 1300 shareholders is sufficient); see also Cervantes v. Sullivan, 719 F.Supp. 899, 907 (E.D.Cal. 1989).

  
In civil rights cases, the membership of a class is usually "incapable of specific enumeration."  Yaffe, 454 F.2d at 1366; Powell v. Ward, 487 F.Supp. 917, 922 (S.D.N.Y. 1980) (citing Advisory Committee Note to Revised Rule 23).  In such circumstances, as in the present matter, a class action may proceed upon a reasonable estimate of the proposed class size.  Jane B. v. New York City Dept. of Social Servs., 117 F.R.D. 64, 70 (S.D.N.Y. 1987) (citing In re Alcoholic Beverages Litigation, 95 F.R.D. 321, 324 (E.D.N.Y. 1982)).   See 5 Newberg, H. and Conte, A., Newberg on Class Actions ( 23.02 (3d ed. 1992) ("Courts generally have not required detailed proof of class numerousness in government benefit class actions when challenged statutes or regulations are of general applicability to a class of recipients, because those classes are often inherently very large.").



In addition to considering the number of people in a proposed class, courts also look at the impracticability of joining all the plaintiffs.  The federal rule merely requires a determination that the class is so numerous as to make joinder of all members impracticable.  Courts have given significant weight to factors such as the ability of the plaintiffs to bring their own separate actions, their geographical diversity, and the type of relief sought.  Jordan v. Los Angeles, 669 F.2d 1311, 1319 (9th Cir. 1982), vacated on other grounds, 459 U.S. 810 (1982), see also National Ass'n. of  Radiation Survivors v. Walters, 111 F.R.D. 595, 599 (N.D.Cal. 1986).  In this case, the inability of most Medicaid-eligible children with serious mental illness to initiate actions on their own behalf is a factor strongly supporting class certification.  


Courts have relied upon the combination of Medicaid eligibility, disability, and limited access to attorneys to certify classes in similar situations.  See Armstead v. Pingree, 629 F.Supp. 273 (M.D.Fla. 1986); see also Exhibits 1 and 2.  In the present case, the class representatives seek injunctive and declaratory relief on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated throughout Massachusetts.  Much like the plaintiffs in the Armstead, if the proposed class is not certified in this case, it would be extremely difficult, and thus impracticable, for the members of the proposed class to maintain individual suits against the defendants, particularly given the nature of their disabilities, their limited economic resources, their geographical diversity, and their segregation in psychiatric hospitals, mental health residential programs, and other settings.  It is highly unlikely in this case that individual claimants could institute separate suits for declaratory and injunctive relief in the event class certification is denied.  See Jordan, 669 F.2d at 1319-20.  Moreover, the proposed classmembers are all seriously disabled children, which "is precisely the type of group which class treatment was designed to protect."  See Armstead, 629 F.Supp. at 279.  Under these circumstances (the difficulty or inconvenience of joining all members makes class litigation desirable."  Koster v. Perales, 108 F.R.D. 46, 49 (E.D.N.Y. 1985) (citing Northwestern National Bank of Minneapolis v. Fox & Co., 102 F.R.D. 507, 511 (S.D.N.Y. 1984)); Risinger, 201 F.R.D. at 19.  Thus, the proposed class meets the numerosity requirements of Rule 23(a)(1). 


B.
The Members of the Class Share Common Questions of Law and Fact.

  Rule 23(a)(2) of the Fed. R. Civ. P. requires that in order for a class to be appropriately certified, the proposed class members must have at least one issue in common, the resolution of which will affect all or a significant number of putative class members.  See Lightbourn v. County of El Paso, 118 F.3d 421, 426 (5th Cir. 1997); Rosario v. Livaditis, 963 F.2d 1013, 1017-18 (7th. Cir. 1992).  "Because the class need share only a single legal or factual issue at this stage of the analysis, the commonality prerequisite ordinarily is easily established."  Mulligan v. Choice Mortgage Corp. USA, 1998 WL 544431 at *3 (D.N.H. August 11, 1998); Duhaime v. John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Co., 177 F.R.D. 54, 63 (D.Mass. 1997)("This commonality requirement is a 'low hurdle' easily surmounted.").  As most courts have noted, "[t]he threshold of 'commonality' is not high."  Jenkins v. Raymark Indus., Inc., 782 F.2d 468, 472 (5th Cir. 1986).  


There is no requirement that "all questions of law and fact involved in the dispute be common to all members of the class."  Arnold v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 158 F.R.D. 439, 448-49 (N.D. Cal. 1994).  Nor is there any requirement that there be absolute identity between the legal theories which support the classmembers' claims.  See Blackie, 524 F.2d at 902.  "[A]ll of the putative classmembers [need not] share identical claims"; rather the rule requires only "that complainants' claims be common and not in conflict."  Hassine v. Jeffes, 846 F.2d 169, 176-77 (3d Cir. 1988).  Only where there are no questions of fact or law common to the class should certification be denied.  Yaffe, 454 F.2d at 1366.


"Commonality" means that there must be a substantial question of law and/or fact common to all classmembers, not that each member of the class can be or is identically situated.  General Telephone Co. of the Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 155 (1982).  Commonality refers to the defendants' conduct and is not defeated by the presence of individual differences among classmembers.  Adamson v. Bowen, 855 F.2d 668, 676 (10th Cir. 1988); Appleyard v. Wallace, 754 F.2d 955, 958 (11th Cir. 1985); Milonas v. Williams, 691 F.2d 931, 938 (10th Cir. 1982); Penn v. San Juan Hospital, Inc., 528 F.2d 1181, 1189 (10th Cir. 1975); see also Califano v. Yamasaki, 442 U.S. 682 (1979).  In fact, where "a question of law refers to standardized conduct of the defendant towards members of the proposed class, commonality is usually met."  Curtis v. Commissioner, Maine Dep't. of Human Servs., 159 F.R.D. 339, 341 (D.Me. 1994).


  The commonality "requirement has been liberally construed and 'those courts that have focused on Rule 23(a)(2) have given it permissive application so that common questions have been found to exist in a broad range of contexts.'"  Rodriguez v. Carlson, 166 F.R.D. 465, 472 (E.D. Wash. 1996)(citing Haywood v. Barnes, 109 F.R.D. 568, 577 (E.D.N.C. 1986)).  Courts have broadly applied the rule to class actions where injunctive and declaratory relief is sought.  "Class suits for injunctive or declaratory relief by their very nature often present common questions satisfying Rule 23(a)(2)."  7A Wright, Miller, & Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure (1763 at 201 (2d ed. 1986).  Class actions are particularly appropriate where, as here, governmental policies and practices have a broad impact upon a class of recipients and the scope of the injunctive relief is dictated by the nature of the violation.  Califano, 442 U.S. 682.

   
In this case, as a direct result of the defendants' actions and inactions, each of the plaintiffs have been denied access to intensive home-based services, in violation of their rights under the EPSDT program and Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. (( 1396a(a), 1396d(r), 1396u, and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.  Any differences between classmembers' abilities and disabilities have no bearing on these claims, to the defendants' actions in denying classmembers intensive home-based services and the opportunity to remain with their families, to the relief requested in the Complaint, and to the prosecution of this case.
  Risinger, 201 F.R.D. at 20-21.  Each classmember has suffered or faces a similar and "real and immediate" injury.  Sosna v. Iowa, 419 U.S. 393, 403 (1975).  Specifically, the common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to:

1.
whether the defendants' failure (a) to provide or arrange medically necessary behavioral and mental health services, including intensive home-based services under the EPSDT program; (b) to establish policies and procedures that facilitate access to these services; and (c) to inform classmembers and their families of their entitlement to these services violates the EPSDT mandate of Title XIX of the Social Security Act (Medicaid);

2.
whether the defendants' failure promptly to provide classmembers with medically necessary, intensive home-based services violates the reasonable promptness requirement of Title XIX of the Social Security Act; 

3.
whether the defendants' policies, practices, and procedures with respect to behavioral and mental health services for children comply with the administrative requirements of Title XIX of the Social Security Act; and

4.
whether the defendants' operation and oversight of its behavioral health managed care program is consistent with the managed care requirements of Title XIX of the Social Security Act.


Therefore, the common claims of the plaintiffs predominate over any questions affecting individual members of the class, as required by Rule 23(a)(2).  


C.The Claims or Defenses of the Named Representatives Are Typical of Those of The Class.


The third component of Rule 23(a) requires that the representatives' claims for relief be typical of the claims of the absent class members.  The test for "typicality" is not that the claims of the named individuals be identical to the claims of the other classmembers, but rather, that the class representatives must "possess the same interest and suffer the same injury" as other classmembers.  General Tel. Co. of the Southwest, 457 U.S. at 156 (citing East Texas Motor Freight System v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395, 403 (1977) quoting Schlesinger v. Reservists Committee to Stop the War, 418 U.S. 208, 216 (1974)); see also Jones v. Shalala, 64 F.3d 510, 514 (9th Cir. 1995); California Rural Legal Assistance v. Legal Services Co., 917 F.2d 1171, 1175 (9th Cir. 1990), modified, 937 F.2d 465 (9th Cir. 1991); Modell v. Eliot Sav. Bank, 139 F.R.D. 17, 22 (D.Mass. 1991).  Most courts agree that "[l]ike the commonality requirement, the typicality requirement is not demanding."  Celestine v. Citgo Petroleum Corp., 165 F.R.D. 463, 467 (W.D.La. 1995); Neff v. VIA Metropolitan Transit Authority, 179 F.R.D. 185, 194 (W.D.Tex. 1998)(ADA challenge to municipal authority's policies and practices does not seek a determination of each classmember's claim for accommodations and satisfies the typicality standard).  See also 1 Newberg on Class Actions, (3.17 at 3-102 (The typicality requirement demands no showing of complete identity between the legal claims of a representative and each member, but only "...a showing of sufficient interrelationship between the claims of the representative and those of the class so that adjudication of the individual claims will necessarily involve the decision of common questions affecting the class").    


Massachusetts courts have liberally applied the typicality requirement.  Rolland v. Cellucci, 52 F.Supp.2d 231, 242 (D.Mass. 1999)(citing class determination); Guckenberger v. Boston University, 957 F.Supp. 306, 326 (D.Mass. 1997)(class of learning disabled students who challenged university's special needs program satisfies standards for class certification, despite the fact that classmembers have different disabilities and require different types of accommodations);  In re Bank of Boston Corp. Securities Litigation, 762 F.Supp. 1525, 1532 (D.Mass. 1991); Griffin v. Burns, 570 F.2d 1065, 1073 (1st Cir. 1978)(even if not all classmembers were aggrieved by contested voting practice, typicality does not require such precision).


Thus, the courts have held that a strong similarity of legal theories will satisfy the typicality requirement, even where there are substantial factual differences between and among individual classmembers.  See Appleyard v. Wallace, 754 F.2d at 958.  In Appleyard, a class action was brought in Alabama challenging the state's Medicaid level of care admission criteria on behalf of individuals who were denied Medicaid nursing home benefits.  The district court refused to certify the class based on its findings that the named plaintiffs could not satisfy the typicality requirement due to the (vast factual differences surrounding the medical condition of each of the named plaintiffs."  Id. at 957.  In reversing, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals held that these factual differences were irrelevant since they had nothing to do with the injunctive and declaratory relief requested by the plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all of the classmembers.  Id. at 958.  The court concluded that "the similarity of the legal theories shared by plaintiffs and the class at large is so strong as to override whatever factual differences might exist and dictate a determination that the named plaintiffs' claims are typical of those members of the putative class."  Id.

 This case satisfies the typicality requirement of Rule 23(a)(3) since the putative class members present similar factual situations -- the need for home-based services -- which give rise to common legal issues.  Like the class certified in Risinger, 201 F.R.D. at 21-22 and other EPSDT cases, see Exhibit 1, the fact that classmembers here may have different medical needs, that they may have entered the Medicaid system in different ways, or that they may require a slightly different service array does not justify denying class certification.  Instead, the requisite typicality is established precisely because all classmembers are not being provided those medically necessary services to which they are entitled under the EPSDT program and because they are denied certain Medicaid services as a direct result of specific actions and inactions of the defendants.  Curtis, 159 F.R.D. at 341 ("The typicality requirement is satisfied because ... the representative Plaintiff is subject to the same statute and policy as the class members.").  Finally, the named classmembers have a personal interest in this litigation which is reasonably related to the harm experienced by all classmembers.  Risinger, 201 F.R.D. at 22.

 
D.The Class Representatives Fairly and Adequately Represent the Interest of the Class.

Rule 23(a)(4) requires that the representative plaintiffs in a class action fairly and adequately represent the interests of the entire class.  In order to satisfy this requirement two criteria must be satisfied: (1) the attorneys representing the class must be qualified and competent; and (2) the class representatives must not have antagonistic or conflicting interests with the unnamed members of the class.  Lerwill v. Inflight Motion Pictures, Inc., 582 F.2d 507, 512 (9th Cir. 1978); Rodriguez, 166 F.R.D. at 473; In re Bank Boston, 762 F.Supp. at 1534.  Both elements of Rule 23(a)(4) are met in this case.


(1)
Adequacy of Counsel

Factors considered in determining the adequacy of the counsel in representation in class actions include: the attorneys' professional skills, experience, and resources. See North American Acceptance Corp. Securities Cases v. Arnall, Golden, & Gregory, 593 F.2d 642, 644 (5th Cir. 1979) In the instant matter, the Center for Public Representation, through its senior attorneys Steven Schwartz and Cathy Costanzo, have been involved in complex class action litigation on behalf of institutionalized persons with disabilities for the past twenty-five years and have been lead counsel in numerous institutional reform lawsuits throughout the country.  Hale and Dorr, LLP, is a leading private law firm in Massachusetts and has been involved in other major class actions on behalf of persons with mental disabilities.  The Massachusetts Legal Advisors Committee is a state created advocacy and education program authorized to represent persons with mental disabilities throughout the Commonwealth.  Its director, Frank Laski, has been lead counsel in a large number of class action suits throughout the country, including many involving children with disabilities.  Finally, plaintiffs' counsel believe that their resources are more than adequate to represent the class competently and that they have no other professional commitments which are antagonistic to, or which would detract from, their efforts to seek a favorable decision for the class in this case.


(2)
Adequacy of the Named Representatives

In order for the named representatives to be deemed adequate to represent the class, their interests must coincide with those of the unnamed classmembers.  See, generally, General Tel. Co., 457 U.S. 147.  Additionally, the interests of the named plaintiffs must not be antagonistic to the unnamed class members.  Andrews, 780 F.2d at 130.


In the present case, while all members of the plaintiff class may not have the same treatment recommendations or needs, they all have suffered the same injuries as a result of the defendants policies and practices: they have been denied medically necessary services guaranteed by federal law.  They all seek the same remedies: intensive home-based services, supports, and case management, as mandated by the Medicaid program, which would provide them the opportunity to remain at home with their families and to receive appropriate mental health treatment.  There are no meaningful differences among the plaintiff class on these fundamental issues.  The named plaintiffs do not, therefore, have interests divergent from other children with psychiatric conditions and serious emotional disorders in Massachusetts.  Rather, the named plaintiffs in this case can fully and adequately represent the legal rights and seek the legal remedies to which all members of the putative class are entitled.  Neff, 179 F.R.D. at 195 (named plaintiffs can adequately represent the interests of citizens of San Antonio with physical disabilities).

V.THIS ACTION MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(B)(2) SINCE THE DEFENDANTS HAVE ACTED OR REFUSED TO ACT ON GROUNDS GENERALLY APPLICABLE TO THE CLASS, THEREBY MAKING APPROPRIATE FINAL INJUNCTIVE RELIEF OR CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY RELIEF WITH RESPECT TO THE CLASS AS A WHOLE.

Courts have recognized that class actions certified under subsection (b)(2) are particularly important in civil rights cases where injunctive relief is sought, as in the present case.  Yaffe, 454 F.2d at 1366 (Rule 23(b)(2) is "uniquely suited to civil rights actions"); Holmes v. Continental Can Co., 706 F.2d 1144, 1152 (11th Cir. 1983); see also Advisory Committee Notes to Revised Rule 23, 39 F.R.D. 69, 102 (1966).  Certification of classes has been deemed "an especially appropriate vehicle for civil rights actions" seeking hospital or prison reform.  See Coley v. Clinton, 635 F.2d 1364, 1378 (8th Cir. 1980); see also Hoptowit v. Ray, 682 F.2d 1237, 1245 (9th Cir. 1982).  In cases seeking only equitable relief, a district court's discretion to refuse to certify a class is limited.  Dean v. Coughlin, 107 F.R.D. 331, 335 (S.D.N.Y. 1985); RAM v. Blum, 533 F.Supp. 933, 938 (S.D.N.Y. 1982).  In such cases, class certification is necessary to make sure that mandatory relief runs to benefit all of the members of the class.  Jane B., 177 F.R.D. at 72.


The First Circuit explicitly has rejected the requirement of demonstrating necessity for class certification where a defendant governmental agency claims it will extend equal benefits to all putative classmembers, even if only an individual injunction is issued.  Dionne v. Bouley, 757 F.2d 1344, 1356 (1st Cir. 1985).  Instead, the Court of Appeals has held that if injunctive or declaratory relief is appropriate with respect to the whole class, certification is proper.  Id.  Denial of certification is especially frowned upon where there is a danger that the individual's claim may be moot, where a declaration of the rights of one plaintiff does not automatically translate into appropriate and timely relief for other classmembers, or where certification does not impose any additional burden on the court.


The risk of mootness is a real danger in this case.  Some heightened attention predictably often is directed to named classmembers, in order to address their specific claims for services.
  The treatment needs and responses of other named classmembers are fluid and subject to change as a result of the inevitable fluctuations in their condition.  Similarly, the risk that a declaration of rights as to one plaintiff will not resolve the problems of other classmembers is a compelling factor here.  For instance, even if it were declared that a named plaintiff was entitled to intensive home-based services, it would not follow that all classmembers would be afforded similar opportunities, and certainly not immediately.


The requirements of Rule 23(b)(2) are satisfied in this case.  Specifically, certification of a (b)(2) class in the present case is appropriate because it is a civil rights class action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, which is exactly the type of litigation that the Federal Rules Advisory Committee anticipated would be certified under Rule 23(b)(2).  In addition, the defendants in this case have refused and/or failed to provide intensive home-based services and other medically necessary services, in violation of the rights of all classmembers under various federal statutes and the regulations promulgated thereunder.  The defendants' refusal or failure to act equally effects rights common to all of the classmembers, both the representative individuals as well as the unnamed classmembers.  Thus, the defendants are acting or refusing to act in a manner that is "generally applicable" to the entire class of persons with disabilities.  Therefore, final injunctive and declaratory relief is appropriate, precisely because it will resolve the legality of the challenged inaction for the class as whole. 


Rule 23(b)(2) is specifically designed to address class actions by plaintiffs seeking declaratory and injunctive relief in civil rights cases.  See Advisory Committee Notes to Revised Rule 23; Coley, 635 F.2d at 1378.  In virtually every case challenging the denial of mandated EPSDT services or other cases involving persons with mental disabilities who challenge the necessity of their confinement and segregation, courts have certified classes under this section of the Rule.  See Exhibits 1 and 2.  In this case, the plaintiffs' request for class certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) is necessary to ensure that any mandatory relief will extend to not only one named individual, but also to all children with psychiatric conditions or serious emotional disturbances in the Commonwealth. 

VI.
CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Court should certify a plaintiff class consisting of all current or future Medicaid-eligible residents of Massachusetts under the age of twenty-one who are or may be eligible for, but are not receiving, intensive home-based services, including professionally acceptable assessments, special therapeutic aides, crisis intervention, and case management services.
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     �  According to a recent estimate of the Department of Mental Health, there are approximately 2500 children on DMH's waiting list for case managers and mental health services.  See Exhibit 3.  There are over 225 children in state hospitals and other secure units located on the grounds of state hospitals, many of whom do not need to be institutionalized.  DMA estimates there are over a hundred children "stuck" in private psychiatric hospitals awaiting placement.  There are approximately five hundred children in group care settings with the Department of Social Services, many of whom need home-based care.  Finally, there are hundreds, if not thousands, of children isolated in their homes without medically necessary mental health care.  A significant but as yet undetermined percentage of these children are eligible for and need home-based services.


     �  Like other EPSDT cases, this action does not require the Court to engage in individualized determinations of eligibility or service prescription.  The lack of notice of EPSDT benefits, the absence of adequate screening and assessment procedures, and the wholesale lack of accessible, ongoing, and intensive home-based services for needy children can be determined without resort to individual treatment determinations by the Court.


     �  The contrary is occasionally true.  Since the filing of the Complaint two months ago, the Department of Mental Health has terminated or reduced the limited available services, allegedly because of budget constraints.







